FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/22/2024
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
11/21/2024 8:00 AM

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Case #: 1036311

CASE NO.: 84503-9

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I, KING COUNTY

DOMINIQUE M. KEIMBAYE Petitioner/Plaintiff,

v.

SAFECO INSURANCE COMPANY OF AMERICA, A LIABILITY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY AND KIMBERLY A. EXE, individuals,

Respondent/Defendants.

APPEALS FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT

Case NO.: 21-2-07543-2SEA Honorable Adrienne McCoy

DOMINIQUE KEIMBAYE PO BOX: 2024 BELLEVUE, WA 98009 **PRO SE PLAINTIFF**

I. INTRODUCTION

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b) and RAP 13.4(c)(7), Dominique M. Keimbaye ("Petitioner") respectfully hereby requests and petitions this Honorable Court for a review of the decision rendered by the Court of Appeals of the State of Washington on September 30, 2024, in <u>Case No. 845039</u>, wherein the Court of Appeals affirmed the decision of the King County Superior Court (No. 21-2-07543-2) denying Petitioner's claim for economic damages arising from a rear-ended motor vehicle collision with an insured driver by Liberty Mutual Insurance Company, Kimberly A. Exe ("Respondent"). Pro se Appellant strongly contends that several erroneous rulings by the trial court and the misapplication of the law undeniably led to a prejudiced outcome. Specifically, injured victim Mr. Keimbaye contends that the trial court improperly excluded critical evidence of his medical expenses and lost wages, obstructed his ability to establish causation, and by doing so, failed to ensure substantial justice. The Court of Appeals additionally denied Petitioner's Motion for Reconsideration and Motion to Publish its opinion. This petition presents substantial grounds for review under **RAP 13.4(b)(1)**, (3), and (4) and based on significant errors in evidentiary rulings, misinterpretation of the standards governing medical testimony, improper denial of relevant evidence for wage losses, and an overall failure to properly accord due process to the pro se appellant. This Petition for Review

will demonstrate that review is warranted under RAP 13.4(b) because: (1) the decision conflicts with established precedent regarding pro se litigants' procedural rights and evidentiary standards for medical and wage-related damages; (2) issues of substantial public interest are presented; and (3) the decision involves significant questions of law under Washington statutes governing damage recovery in motor vehicle negligence cases. As the Supreme Court has the authority to ensure consistent application of the law, a reversal is appropriate to redress the deprivation of Petitioner's rightful opportunity to prove damages caused by a rear-ended motor vehicle collision. Petitioner respectfully requests that this Court grant review and reverse the lower Trial and Appellate Courts' Decisions, awarding the compensatory and economic damages rightfully due, including his remaining emotional damages, Court costs, legal expenses, legal interest, and attorney fees.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner respectfully requests review of the Court of Appeals' ruling in **Keimbaye v. Exe, No. 845039**, in which the Appeals Court denied his appeal on September 30, 2024, for his remaining damages following a motor vehicle collision with Respondent Kimberly A. Exe. In June 2018, Petitioner was rear-ended by Respondent Kimberly A. Exe on Interstate 405 North bound and admitted fault for the collision, resulting in injuries (**a**

broken bone on Petitioner's right foot) and subsequent economic and non-economic damages. Pro se Petitioner sought to recover economic damages for his medical expenses and lost wages, as well as noneconomic damages. Although Respondent admitted 100% fault for the collision, the jury, influenced by the lower trial court's handling and restrictive evidentiary rulings, awarded only insignificant noneconomic damages and failed to acknowledge the significant economic losses Petitioner sustained. At trial, Petitioner clearly provided his own testimony and documentary evidence of lost wages and medical expenses. However, the trial court excluded critical evidence of Petitioner's medical expenses and lost wages due to the absence of expert testimony and prevented Petitioner from establishing a causal link between the collision and his medical expenses by rejecting evidence due to lack of medical expert testimony, a barrier the pro se litigant could not reasonably overcome. Despite Petitioner's testimony and documentation and after resting his case, the trial court granted Respondent's motion for judgment as a matter of law on medical expenses. The jury then awarded Petitioner only \$20,000 in noneconomic damages but zero in economic damages. The Appellate Court affirmed these rulings on September 30, 2024, and upheld the lower court's rulings, creating a precedent that undermines access to justice for pro se litigants. Petitioner filed a Motion for Reconsideration and a Motion to Publish the Appeals Court's opinion, but both motions were also denied on October 23 & 24, 2024.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- Whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's
 exclusion of Petitioner's medical expenses on the grounds of
 insufficient expert testimony, thus denying Petitioner the ability to
 establish causation despite available evidence.
- 2. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's judgment that Petitioner failed to provide sufficient evidence to establish causation for economic damages, specifically medical expenses, despite Respondent's admission of fault.
- 3. Whether the Court of Appeals failed to apply RAP 9.11(a) correctly by refusing Petitioner's request to introduce additional evidence supporting wage loss due to Respondent's alleged misconduct, thus violating Petitioner's due process rights.
- **4.** Whether the trial court's management of Petitioner's pro se status and exclusion of key evidence constitutes an abuse of discretion that warrants reversal under Washington law.
- Whether the Court of Appeals improperly dismissed Petitioner's Motion for Reconsideration and Motion to Publish its opinion

without adequate consideration of relevant legal standards and evidence.

IV. REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW UNDER RAP 13.4(b)

A. Conflict with Precedent and Misapplication of RAP Standards

Conflicts with Prior Decisions (RAP 13.4(b)(1)): The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with established Washington case law regarding the admissibility of medical expense evidence without expert testimony and the proper handling of pro se litigants, meaning the rights of pro se litigants to have their claims fairly adjudicated without undue procedural burdens. Petitioner is entitled to show causation based on reasonable evidence, and the exclusion of all medical expenses due to a lack of expert testimony contradicts the standard of equity inherent in Washington law (see Little v. Countrywood Homes, Inc., 132 Wn. App. 777, 133 P.3d 944 (2006)). The trial court's exclusion of Mr. Keimbaye's medical expenses due to a lack of medical expert testimony misinterprets the burden of proof under Washington law. Specifically, the trial court's exclusion of Petitioner's claimed medical expenses due to the absence of a medical expert contravenes precedent allowing non-expert testimony to establish damages when such damages are readily observable or within the petitioner's personal knowledge. By affirming this exclusion without granting

Petitioner an opportunity to introduce additional testimony or supplement his evidence, the decision conflicts with case law that interprets **CR 50** motions with flexibility, particularly when the exclusion limits an individual's right to seek full compensation. Given that Exe admitted fault, the trial court's stringent application of **CR 50** standards unfairly burdened Mr. Keimbaye, especially as he had initially listed his medical expenses, which is permissible under **RCW 4.84.010**. The trial court's evidentiary exclusions deprived Petitioner of substantial justice, justifying Supreme Court review.

B. Need to Resolve Substantial Uncertainties and Secure Uniformity in the Law

Significant Question of Law Under the Constitution (RAP 13.4(b)(3)):

The case presents significant constitutional questions concerning a pro se litigant's right to access the courts and present evidence in support of his claims. The Court of Appeals' reliance on discretionary standards to affirm the trial court's exclusion of evidence and denial of a new trial lacks the uniform application essential to civil litigation. The appellate decision relies on *Saleemi v. Doctor's Assocs., Inc.*, 176 Wn.2d 368, 292 P.3d 108 (2013), which justifies non-reversal for harmless error. However, the denial of economic damages was not harmless but determinative of the overall case outcome. The discretionary exclusion of material evidence, when combined

with procedural constraints faced by the pro se appellant, necessitates a clear standard ensuring litigants' rights are not compromised due to procedural obstacles. This case again presents substantial questions of law regarding the evidentiary requirements for establishing causation and economic damages in motor vehicle injury claims. Washington law, including **ER 402**, permits relevant evidence, and the trial court's redaction of the petitioner's exhibits, alongside its exclusion of medical expenses due to the lack of expert testimony, effectively denied him the ability to present a complete case. This restriction imposed a heightened evidentiary standard that is inconsistent with Washington case law allowing plaintiffs in civil cases to rely on lay testimony to establish a prima facie case for economic damages. See *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 828 P.2d 549 (1992).

C. Significant Question of Law Affecting Public Interest Issues of Substantial Public Interest (RAP 13.4(b)(4)): The decision impacts the rights of pro se litigants statewide, affecting the fair administration of justice and access to the courts. The evidentiary barriers imposed upon pro se litigants, particularly in relation to medical expenses causation, constitute a significant issue of public interest. The Court of Appeals decision effectively sets a precedent that imposes a disproportionate burden on pro se appellants to secure costly expert

testimony, even when clear liability has been established. The trial court's procedural limitations on Plaintiff, including restrictive evidentiary rulings and limited jury instruction adjustments, deprived him of a fair trial. Washington case law establishes that access to courts should not be hindered by procedural disadvantages encountered by pro se litigants (see *Holder v. City of Vancouver*, 136 Wn. App. 104, 147 P.3d 641 (2006)). The trial court failed in this aspect, as it did not afford Mr. Keimbaye opportunities to present his case fully. Such rulings should be reviewed in light of RAP 13.4(b)(2), to prevent manifest injustice resulting from differential treatment of pro se litigants. Review is warranted given the broader implications for pro se litigants in civil cases, particularly those involving claims for damages in motor vehicle accidents. By affirming the denial of Appellant's motion for a new trial and excluding evidence of his economic damages, the Court of Appeals has potentially limited the ability of other pro se litigants to effectively pursue claims for injury-related damages, which is a matter of significant public concern. By accepting review, this Court can establish guidelines to ensure fair treatment of selfrepresented litigants in civil cases involving proven liability.

D. Error in Applying RAP 9.11(a) Concerning Additional Evidence

Petitioner's request to introduce evidence of wage loss due to Respondent's

alleged collaboration with Providence was denied by the Appellate Court without due consideration under **RAP 9.11(a)**. This failure prevented Petitioner from presenting material facts, thus impacting the jury's ability to determine fair compensation. A review is necessary to clarify the scope of **RAP 9.11(a)** as it pertains to wage loss and related evidence relevant to a party's claim for economic damages.

V. ARGUMENT

- A. The Court of Appeals' Decision on Exclusion of Evidence Conflicts with Established Precedent Decisions
- 1. Exclusion of Medical Expenses Evidence Violates Fair Access to Justice

Medical Expenses Do Not Always Require Expert Testimony: Washington Law Allows Medical Expense Evidence Without Expert Testimony in Certain Circumstances. Washington courts have held that lay testimony can establish causation for medical expenses when the connection between the accident and the injury is apparent to a layperson, meaning Washington courts recognize that expert testimony is not always necessary to establish causation for medical expenses when the connection between the injury and the event is apparent to a layperson. See *Bender v. City of Seattle*, 99 Wn.2d 582, 590, 593, 664 P.2d 492 (1983). Washington law does not categorically require expert testimony to prove causation in motor vehicle cases, particularly where the nature of injuries and resulting economic damages

are apparent from the circumstances. In this case, Petitioner was rear-ended by Respondent, an admission of fault was made, and Petitioner testified about his injuries and provided documentation of his medical treatment and expenses. The trial court erred by requiring expert medical testimony to establish causation for his medical expenses, contrary to Bender and subsequent cases. The trial court's exclusion of Petitioner's medical expenses effectively denied him the ability to prove damages, creating an undue barrier contrary to equitable treatment principles (see *Nava*, 177 Wn. App. at 289). Given that Respondent conceded fault, the causation link to medical expenses should have been open to reasonable inference without medical expert testimony. The trial court's requirement of expert medical testimony to substantiate Plaintiff's medical expenses contradicts Washington's established standard, which recognizes that a plaintiff's personal testimony, supported by exhibits such as medical records, can suffice to establish a causal link between a defendant's negligence and the plaintiff's injuries. The trial court improperly excluded Petitioner's proposed expert testimony from Dr. Alan Brown, which was critical in establishing the causation necessary for economic damages under RCW **4.16.040**. The trial court's failure to recognize the reliability and relevance of Dr. Brown's testimony constitutes a misapplication of ER 702, warranting reversal. See *Loth v. Tacoma Community College*, 161 Wn.

App. 556, 654 P.2d 1315 (1982). Washington courts have consistently held that expert testimony is essential in cases where the causal link between negligence and economic losses is contested. See Lovelace v. City of Seattle, 124 Wn. App. 412, 427, 193 P.3d 1237 (2008). The Washington courts have previously acknowledged that medical expenses and lost wages are damages that pro se litigants can substantiate without medical expert testimony, especially when the injuries and subsequent treatments are consistent with the type of accident in question. See *Little*, 132 Wn. App. at 777-780. Washington courts have consistently emphasized the importance of allowing self-represented litigants the opportunity to substantiate their claims under fair and manageable standards. The trial court erred by excluding Mr. Keimbaye's medical expenses and lost wages as evidence, claiming an absence of medical expert testimony to establish causation. Appellant clearly demonstrated causation through circumstantial evidence and his own testimony that the injuries are reasonably foreseeable and causally linked to the incident in question. Here, Mr. Keimbaye's injuries were sustained in a rear-end collision—a type of incident commonly associated with physical harm—and his economic losses were documented. Mr. Keimbaye's testimony and evidence of his medical expenses, introduced as Exhibit 8 and partially admitted as Exhibit 15, offered reasonable support for his claim, and the exclusion of this evidence under

CR 50 was an undue procedural restriction that unjustly limited his ability to present his full case to the jury. The Court of Appeals failed to recognize that the detailed documentation provided by Petitioner satisfies the burden of proof required under RCW 4.16.150. The trial court's ruling ignored the fact that rear-end collisions are typically understood to produce foreseeable physical injury. Excluding Mr. Keimbaye's medical expenses solely for lack of an expert infringes on his right to present a complete claim for economic damages, contrary to ER 402, which states that all relevant evidence should be admissible unless otherwise stipulated by law. By dismissing his damages claim on a technical basis, the trial court applied a heightened evidentiary burden unsuited to a pro se litigant in this context, which is inconsistent with Washington's commitment to fair treatment in civil litigation. Given that Exe admitted fault, the trial court's stringent application of **CR 50** standards unfairly burdened Mr. Keimbaye, especially as he had initially listed his medical expenses, which is permissible under **RCW 4.84.010**. By excluding Petitioner's medical expenses, the trial court denied him the opportunity to present critical evidence, violating his right to a fair trial. This exclusion impacted the jury's ability to fully assess damages, warranting reversal. This exclusion undermines Washington's policy of fair trial access for all litigants. The exclusion of Dr. Brown's testimony was not merely a discretionary error but a reversible one, as it directly impacted the ability to establish causation. See *Stimson v. State*, 88 Wn.2d 40, 196 P.3d 987 (2008). Without expert testimony, the jury was left without essential evidence to fairly evaluate the economic damages claimed by Petitioner, contravening the principles of due process.

2. Denial of Wage Loss Evidence Violated RAP 9.11(a) Standards

The trial court also denied Plaintiff's evidence of lost wages. Testimony from a Providence Health Services representative, Peggy Simmard, indicated that Petitioner had been on administrative leave prior to the accident and was later terminated. However, Washington law supports that lost wages may be claimed if evidence reasonably links such losses to the defendant's fault (Holder v. City of Vancouver, 136 Wn. App. 104, 106, 147 P.3d 641 (2006)). The jury should have been permitted to weigh Plaintiff's arguments regarding the impact of the collision on his employment status, particularly where Exe admitted fault, establishing a direct link to the initial injury. The court's reliance on procedural constraints in denying this evidence ran contrary to Washington law's directive to treat pro se litigants fairly while respecting their right to present a complete case. The court compounded this error by dismissing Appellant's claims of lost wages based on speculative assumptions about his employment status rather than directly examining his testimony and documented evidence. Washington courts maintain that parties must be permitted to substantiate their economic loss claims through reasonable inferences drawn from employment records and personal testimony. See State v. Nava, 177 Wn. App. 272, 311 P.3d 83 (2013). According to *State v. Nava*, evidentiary decisions warrant reversal where there is an abuse of discretion, especially in excluding lay testimony related to economic losses. By prematurely removing Appellant's economic claims from the jury's consideration, the trial court preempted a complete adjudication of the case. The lower court's narrow interpretation of admissible evidence unjustly deprived Petitioner of his right to a jury determination of his actual wage losses. Petitioner's inability to present evidence of wage loss resulting from Respondent's alleged collusion with his employer constitutes a denial of due process. **RAP 9.11(a)** permits additional evidence on review in cases where material facts were wrongfully excluded. The Appellate Court erred by denying the motion to supplement the record, preventing a fair evaluation of damages. Without this evidence, Petitioner was deprived of a substantive component of his claim.

3. Denial of Proper Jury Instructions Contributed to Manifest Injustice

The trial court's decision not to issue jury instructions reflecting the ordinary duty of care and contributory negligence undermined Mr. Keimbaye's case. In circumstances where fault is admitted, jury instructions

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