FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/13/2025 8:00 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 1036311

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Dominique M. Keimbaye, Petitioner v. Kimberly A. Exe, Respondent

On Appeal From

Division I of the Court of Appeals of the State of Washington
No. 845039-I

The Superior Court of the State of Washington in and for King County – Honorable Adrienne McCoy
No. 21-2-07543-2 SEA

RESPONDENT KIMBERLY A. EXE'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW & REQUEST FOR RELIEF

BURGER, MEYER & D'ANGELO, LLP

Eden E. Goldman, WSBA No. 54131 Attorney for Respondent Kimberly A. Exe 1000 2nd Ave., Suite 3200 Seattle, WA 98104

Telephone: (206) 257-7880

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

² Keimbaye also makes reference to RAP 13.4(b)(2) in the argument section of his Petition.

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

See RAP 13.4(b). Because Keimbaye cannot meet his burden of demonstrating any one of the above criteria is met, this Court should deny Keimbaye's Petition.

B. The Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict with Established Precedent to Warrant This Court's Review Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2)

This Court will accept a Petition for Review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2) only when the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with a Supreme Court decision or Court of Appeals decision. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1); RAP 13.4(b)(2). Keimbaye claims that the decision to exclude medical evidence and wage loss evidence contradicts established precedent. *See*

Appellant's Petition ("AP") 5-6, 9-14. This is not, however, supported by the record or Court of Appeals' decision.

1. It Was Not Error to Limit Keimbaye's Testimony Regarding His Medical Treatment³

Keimbaye argues that the exclusion of evidence related to his medical expenses absent expert testimony on the same violates fair access to justice, that medical expenses do not always require expert testimony, and that his own testimony and medical records should have been enough to allow this issue to go to the jury. 4 See AP 9-13.

³ Keimbaye raises arguments on this issue for the first time in his Petition. A Washington appellate court can refuse to consider any claim of error that was not raised in the trial court. See RAP 2.5(a). Here, not only were these arguments not raised in the trial court, they were also not raised before the Court of Appeals. See Appendix Ex. 1 at 5.

⁴ Exe's counsel was unable to locate the majority of Keimbaye's case law citations related to this issue (AP 5-6, 9-13) when searching on Westlaw by both case name and pin cite. Most of the cases Exe's counsel was able to locate seem to be entirely unrelated to the subject matter of this action. Moreover, although Keimbaye identifies RAP 13.4(b)(1) as the basis for his Petition on this issue, it does not appear that any Supreme Court cases were cited in support of the same.

However, Keimbaye has not specified what evidence regarding his medical expenses was excluded at trial. In fact, the trial court did not exclude evidence of Keimbaye's medical As the Court of Appeals stated, a summary of Keimbaye's claimed injuries and associated damages, including wage loss, was admitted into evidence by the trial court. See Appendix Ex. 1 at 5. The amounts associated with a loan that was purportedly used to pay Keimbaye's medical bills were excluded because Keimbaye was unable to show that the borrowed funds were used for this stated purpose. Ultimately, Keimbaye's medical bills were not submitted to the jury following Exe's successful Motion for Directed Verdict. Appendix Ex. 1 at 2.

Established case law does not support Keimbaye's position regarding medical expenses. "The causal relationship of an accident or injury to a resulting physical condition <u>must</u> be established by medical testimony beyond speculation and <u>conjecture</u>. The evidence must be more than that the accident

'might have,' 'may have,' 'could have,' or 'possibly did,' cause the physical condition. It must rise to the degree of proof that the resulting condition was probably caused by the accident, or that the resulting condition more likely than not resulted from the accident, to establish a causal relation." *Miller v. Staton*, 58 Wn.2d 879, 886, 365 P.2d 333, 337 (1961) (emphasis added).

"[T]he plaintiff must prove that medical costs were reasonable and, in doing so, cannot rely solely on medical records and bills. In other words, medical records and bills are relevant to prove past medical expenses only if supported by additional evidence that the treatment and the bills were both necessary and reasonable." *Patterson v. Horton*, 84 Wn. App. 531, 543, 929 P.2d 1125, 1130 (1997) (internal citations omitted).

The trial court did not limit testimony on Keimbaye's injuries and treatment. Rather, the trial court granted Exe's Motion for Directed Verdict because Keimbaye "did not present any testimony from a medical expert, he failed to meet his

burden to prove a causal link between the collision and his medical expenses." Appendix Ex. 1 at 2. Once the Motion for Directed Verdict was granted, Exe no longer needed her medical expert to testify regarding Keimbaye's claimed injuries and treatment; therefore, Exe's expert was excused from the trial. *Id*.

In its decision, the Court of Appeals further stated that "Keimbaye does not assign error to the trial court's ruling granting Exe's motion for judgment as a matter of law as to causation, nor does he address or analyze the standards under CR 50, which governs such motions. Without arguing—much less showing—that the trial court erred by concluding that Keimbaye's evidence was insufficient to show the collision proximately caused his medical expenses, Keimbaye cannot show it was error to exclude evidence of the *amount* of those expenses. Thus, it was not an abuse of discretion to exclude this evidence." Appendix Ex. 1 at 5 (emphasis original).

Keimbaye could have called his own treating providers or Exe's expert to testify during his case-in-chief, but he chose not to do so. Instead, Keimbaye attempted to rely upon his own testimony to substantiate his injuries and associated treatment and expenses. Because Keimbaye did not satisfy his burden of proof, the trial court's decision to grant Exe's motion as it related to Keimbaye's medical bills, and Court of Appeals decision affirming the same, was appropriate.

2. Keimbaye Was Provided the Opportunity to Present His Wage Loss Claim to the Jury

Although unsupported by the record and Court of Appeals decision, Keimbaye argues that the trial court "denied Plaintiff's evidence of lost wages." AP 13. Keimbaye cites two cases to support this position. The first, *Holder v. City of Vancouver*, 136 Wn. App. 104, 147 P.3d 641 (2006) was a case involving a disagreement over a parking ordinance and makes no mention of wage loss. The second, *State v. Nava*, 177 Wn. App. 272, 311 P.3d 83 (2013) was a criminal matter related to a defendant's conviction on murder, assault, and unlawful firearm

stands for the proposition that "Washington courts maintain that parties must be permitted to substantiate their economic loss claims through reasonable inferences drawn from employment records and personal testimony" and that "[a]ccording to *State v. Nava* evidentiary decisions warrant reversal where there is an abuse of discretion, especially in excluding lay testimony related to economic losses," *Nava* makes no mention of economic losses as it was a criminal matter. AP 13-14.

Also contrary to Keimbaye's claim that the trial court prohibited him from introducing evidence of wage loss, Keimbaye submitted his claim for wage loss to the jury by way of Exhibit 15. Appendix Ex. 1 at 2. Keimbaye also had the opportunity to cross-examine defense witness Peggy Simard regarding his claim for lost wages. *Id.* The jury deliberated on Keimbaye's claim for lost wages and, in so doing, it was permitted to weigh the evidence and testimony regarding those

claims. The Court of Appeals appropriately affirmed the trial court's ruling on this issue.

3. The Court of Appeals Appropriately Denied Keimbaye's Motion to Supplement the Record Pursuant to RAP 9.11(a)

Keimbaye claims the Court of Appeals "erred by denying the motion to supplement the record, preventing a fair evaluation of damages." AP 14. Keimbaye additionally argues that "RAP 9.11(a) permits additional evidence on review in cases where material facts were wrongfully excluded." AP 14.

In reality, however:

- RAP 9.11 is a limited remedy under which [the Court of Appeals] may direct that additional evidence may be taken if all of the following six criteria are met:
- (1) additional proof of facts is needed to fairly resolve the issues on review, (2) the additional evidence would probably change the decision being reviewed, (3) it is equitable to excuse a party's failure to present the evidence to the trial court, (4) the remedy available to a party through postjudgment motions in the trial court is inadequate or unnecessarily expensive, (5) the appellate court remedy of granting a new trial is inadequate or unnecessarily expensive, and (6) it

would be inequitable to decide the case solely on the evidence already taken in the trial court.

Harbison v. Garden Valley Outfitters, Inc., 69 Wn. App. 590, 593-94, 849 P.2d 669, 672 (1993). "[RAP 9.11(a)] permits the taking of new evidence only if all six conditions are met and then only on the court's own initiative. Unless the court acts under the authority of RAP 1.2 and 18.8, which provide for waiver or alteration of any rule of appellate procedure to preserve the ends of justice, a literal reading of RAP 9.11(a) suggests that a party's motion for presentation of additional evidence cannot be entertained". Mission Ins. Co. v. Guarantee Ins. Co., 37 Wn. App. 695, 702, 683 P.2d 215, 220 (1984) (emphasis added).

In its decision, the Court of Appeals noted "In a July 25, 2023 submission to this court, Keimbaye requested that we take additional evidence of alleged impropriety on the part of Exe's counsel and the trial court. But this court generally does not take evidence, and Keimbaye does not address the factors in RAP 9.11(a) regarding the taking of additional evidence on

review. Keimbaye's request is hereby denied." Appendix Ex. 1 at 6, fn. 9. Pursuant to the language of the rule itself and case law outlined above, the Court of Appeals appropriately declined to consider Keimbaye's motion to supplement the record pursuant to RAP 9.11(a).

4. Denial of Jury Instructions Related to Duty of Care and Contributory Negligence in an Admitted Liability Matter Did Not Contribute to "Manifest Injustice"⁵

Despite the fact that Exe was the only defendant in this matter and had admitted fault for the subject collision, Keimbaye claims that the "trial court's decision not to issue jury instructions reflecting the ordinary duty of care and contributory negligence undermined Mr. Keimbaye's case." AP 14.

To support his position, Keimbaye cites to *Saleemi v*.

Doctor's Associates, Inc., 176 Wn.2d 368, 292 P.3d 108 (2013)

15

⁵ This issue does not appear to fall under any of the criteria required for acceptance of review by the Supreme Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).

for the proposition that "the Washington Supreme Court underscored that courts must ensure damages adequately reflect the injured party's economic losses to prevent prejudice" and "that jury instructions must provide jurors with clear guidelines on relevant legal standards." However, *Saleemi* makes no mention of jury instructions and instead dealt with a franchisor/franchisee disagreement over the enforceability of an arbitration clause. *Saleemi*, *supra*, at 387.

The Court of Appeals addressed the trial court's jury instructions in its decision, stating "even if the trial court erred, any error was at best harmless given that Exe's negligence was uncontested and not before the jury. Accordingly, Keimbaye does not establish a basis for reversal." Appendix Ex. 1 at 5. Because Exe was the only defendant at trial and had admitted fault for the subject collision, issues related to duty of care and fault were not before the jury. The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court's decisions related to jury instructions for negligence based on the facts of this matter.

5. The Court of Appeals Appropriately Affirmed the Trial Court's Denial of Keimbaye's Request for a New Trial⁶

In his Petition, Keimbaye relies on RCW 4.76.030 for the proposition that his request for a new trial was improperly denied, but as the Court of Appeals noted in its decision, "Keimbaye did not rely on RCW 4.76.030 or argue passion or prejudice below. Instead, his motion was based on CR 59(a)(7) ('there is no evidence or reasonable inference from the evidence to justify the verdict or the decision') and CR 59(a)(9) ('substantial justice has not been done'). The thrust of his motion was that he should get another opportunity to present testimony from his treating physicians or from Dr. Brown. We will not consider Keimbaye's statutory argument for the first time on appeal." Appendix Ex. 1 at 7. Similarly to the Court of Appeals decision, this Court should not consider the same arguments that the Court of Appeals already declined to

⁶ This issue does not appear to fall under any of the criteria required for acceptance of review by the Supreme Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(b).

consider as they were not presented to the trial court. Additionally, Keimbaye does not provide any support for how the decision to deny Keimbaye's request for a new trial and Court of Appeals' affirmation of the same falls under and of the requirements of RAP 13.4(b). This Court should accordingly deny Keimbaye's Petition as it relates to his request for a new trial.

6. The Court of Appeals Decision Does not Conflict with Established Precedent on Pro Se Litigants⁷

Without citation to any specific examples, Keimbaye claims that the Court of Appeals "misapplied its procedural discretion by ignoring Mr. Keimbaye's substantive claims simply due to format errors." AP 18. Keimbaye further claims "The Court of Appeals' dismissal of Mr. Keimbaye's assignments of error for insufficient legal citation overlooks Washington's policy of affording leeway to pro se litigants." *Id*.

⁷ This issue also does not appear to fall under any of the criteria required for acceptance of review by the Supreme Court pursuant to RAP 13.4.

However, this assertion ignores the well-established law in Washington that "[p]ro se litigants are bound by the same procedural rules as attorneys." *Westberg v. All-Purpose Structures, Inc.*, 86 Wn.App. 405, 411, 936 P.2d 1175 (1997); *In re Marriage of Olson*, 69 Wn.App. 621, 626, 850 P.2d 527 (1993).

Keimbaye cites to *Haines v. Kerner*, 404 U.S. 519, 92 S. Ct. 594, 30 L. Ed. 2d 652 (1972) for the proposition that "the U.S. Supreme Court held that pro se pleadings are to be held to less stringent standards." AP 18. This is a wholly inaccurate interpretation of *Haines*, which, in actuality, states that pleadings, such as complaints, are held "to less stringent standards than formal pleadings drafted by lawyers." *Haines*, *supra*, at 520.

As the Court of Appeals pointed out, "A number of Keimbaye's arguments fail under the foregoing standards [regarding an appellant's brief] because they are unsupported by citations to the record or by sufficient argument and

authority." AP 3. Keimbaye's failure to provide supporting authority or citation to the record was not simply a "format error" and Keimbaye does not provide any case law to support his position that, since he is a pro se litigant, he did not have to provide evidentiary support in his appellate briefing.

The Court of Appeals appropriately found that "Keimbaye does not point to any abuse of the trial court's discretion to manage its courtroom, and the record reveals that the court was rather accommodating of Keimbaye, thoroughly explaining its rulings while being mindful not to cross the line into improperly assisting him." Appendix Ex. 1 at 4.

C. Review Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(3) is Not Warranted as This Matter Does Not Involve a Significant Question of Law Under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States

Without citation to a single example, Keimbaye asserts, in full, that "[t]he exclusion of critical evidence and the denial of a fair opportunity to present a case raise constitutional concerns under the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment and Article I, Section 3 of the Washington

Constitution. Petitioner was denied a meaningful opportunity to be heard and to present his case." AP 20

This is the entirety of Keimbaye's claim related to "access to justice" and "due process concerns". As there are no examples of these alleged Constitutional violations provided, this Court should decline to consider this issue.

- D. This Matter is Not One of Substantial Public Interest Requiring This Court's Determination Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4)
 - 1. This Run-of-the-Mill Admitted Motor Vehicle Collision is Not an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

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